
[image: Image]


CASEY’S
LAW



CASEY’S
LAW

IF SOMETHING
CAN GO RIGHT,
IT SHOULD

Al Casey

[image: Image]


To Ellie,
whose love and devotion made it all possible

Copyright © 1997, 2011 by Albert V. Casey
Foreword copyright © 1997, 2011 by Jack Valenti

All Rights Reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any manner without the express written consent of the publisher, except in the case of brief excerpts in critical reviews or articles. All inquiries should be addressed to Arcade Publishing, 307 West 36th Street, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10018.

Arcade Publishing books may be purchased in bulk at special discounts for sales promotion, corporate gifts, fund-raising, or educational purposes. Special editions can also be created to specifications. For details, contact the Special Sales Department, Arcade Publishing, 307 West 36th Street, 11th Floor, New York, NY 10018 or info@ skyhorsepublishing.com.

Arcade Publishing® is a registered trademark of Skyhorse Publishing, Inc.®, a Delaware corporation.

Visit our website at www.arcadepub.com.

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Casey, Albert V.
  Casey’s law : if something can go right, it should /Al Casey with Dick Seaver ; foreword by Jack Valenti,
    p.cm.
ISBN 978-1-61145-059-0 (pbk. : alk. paper)
1. Management. 2. Problem solving. 3. Success in business. I. Seaver, Dick. II. Title.
HD3FC3565 2011
658.4’03--dc22

2011001758

Printed in the United States of America


CONTENTS

Foreword by Jack Valenti

Acknowledgments



	1
	Growing Up in Arlington



	2
	Working through Harvard



	3
	The Army, Poker, and Southern Pacific



	4
	REA: A Lesson in Crisis Management



	5
	My Life and Times at Times Mirror



	6
	Leaving Times Mirror



	7
	American Airlines-. The First Year



	8
	Three Crises: New York, Saint Thomas, and Casey’s Brain



	9
	The Great Move



	10
	Deregulation



	11
	Turbulence Aloft: Please Fasten Your Seat Belts



	12
	The Big Stamp



	13
	Academe and the First RepublicBank



	14
	The Resolution Trust Corporation



	15
	Slow Revenge at Harvard, “Drugs Don’t Work,” and a Revival of Ethics




Casey’s Corollaries

Index



FOREWORD


WHEN AL CASEY TOLD ME he was writing his memoirs, or perhaps more accurately, putting on paper the lessons he has learned from the business worlds he has inhabited and commanded — railroads, newspapers and books, TV, major airlines, banks — as well as from acting as United States postmaster general and head of the Resolution Trust Corporation, I told him I would pay him the highest compliment accordable to an author: I would buy his book at full retail price!

In a corporate world largely colored gray, Albert V. Casey is resplendently bright. In truth, he is one of a vanishing breed of great business leaders who can use wit and humor as both shield and mace. He is a man who understands the basic frame of the human condition, for he honors the individual dignity of those working under him and treats them with a warm affection that is both unfeigned and unpretentious. Most of all, he has an instinct for the future.

Put another way: there are countless men and women who can dissect a financial document, who are artisans of the spreadsheet and architects of shareholder enhancement, who can organize and administer and “do” board meetings. But there are too few CEOs who can walk the factory floor or the office corridors and achieve genuine rapport with the men and women who work there, earning their respect and inspiring their pride and loyalty. Al Casey can.

How do I know? Well, try fifty years of observing Al Casey — sometimes intimately, sometimes from afar — navigate the treacherous tides of the business sea.

It was on a crisp autumn day by the side of the Charles River that I first met Al Casey. We were both new students, part of an all-veteran class at Harvard Business School just after the end of the Second World War, eyeing one other warily as we met for the first time. It was a truly formidable class made up of restless intellects, the most tirelessly energetic and fiercely competitive group of men I have ever known. We were all graduates of the nation’s finest universities and, having returned from combat in faraway places, eager to reclaim our lost years. The pace never slackened in the classrooms or in the study groups in which we worked until late in the evening, discussing each new case about the travails of a corporation. The conversations we had over lunch in a rickety old barn of a wartime-era cafeteria had only one pace: full speed ahead. We had no time to waste. We had to catch up with our futures. Among these young primal forces, not one of whom would choose to be less than a leader himself, Al Casey was dominant. His illuminating intellect, his brawny wit, and his ability to inspire affection among those with whom he worked put him at center stage.

Throughout his career Al proved that you could be tough-minded and friendly, that business environments could be competitive and fun, that you could watch the bottom line and enjoy a good laugh. Were there a Business Hall of Fame, Al Casey ought to have his statue placed there, and in a place of honor. But a caveat to the sculptor: make sure you carve a wide, all-embracing smile.

JACK VALENTI
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GROWING UP IN ARLINGTON

FOR DECADES, if not centuries, the inevitability of failure has been associated with a mysterious, no doubt depressive, Irishman named Murphy, who has steadfastly maintained that if anything can go wrong, it will. I never set out specifically to disprove Murphy. Instead, during nearly fifty years in business, including stints as the head of the Times Mirror Company and American Airlines, and several years in government service, I discovered what I have come to call Casey’s Law: If Something Can Go Right, It Should.

Too simplistic? It’s essentially an attitude difference, consistently viewing the glass half full rather than half empty. But it’s even more than that. Problem solving often means taking risks, sometimes multimillion-dollar risks, but risk taking is inherent in making progress, in moving forward. Murphy followers have a built-in excuse. “See,” they say, shrugging or throwing up their hands, when something goes wrong, “we told you that wouldn’t work.”

We should accept that mistakes happen in the process of decision making. Errors abound in business, government, sports — everywhere. But we can learn from our errors. Even Brooks Robinson, the Hall of Fame third baseman for the Baltimore Orioles, made an error now and then. The next day he would take extra infield practice, so that he didn’t make the same error twice.

It has been my good fortune to be employed in various executive capacities by five very large corporations and twice by the U.S. government. This book is based on what I learned playing with the big boys for big dollars. I have some strong opinions, especially on the subject of corporate ethics and corporate structure. I’d like to demonstrate that living by your principles can indeed work to your advantage in the corporate environment.

I also believe in simplifying situations, whenever and wherever possible. Throughout my business life, I did my best to avoid getting bogged down with details in the decision-making process or with issues that were not absolutely essential to the question or problem being reviewed. In several of my jobs, but perhaps most notably during my brief but tumultuous stint as postmaster general, a plethora of details and paperwork threatened to drown me, and I took dramatic steps to fend off the flood. So should, in my opinion, every business and government leader worth his or her salt. One method I devised, early in my career, was to cut down memos to a minimum. Read some you’ve sent or received six months ago — or six days ago — and more often than not you’ll conclude your company could have done without them. Most of the time, when my memo restriction was ignored or circumvented, I’d respond with a pithy — some might say curt — handwritten note, penned directly on the offending document. In my eleven years with American Airlines, I never once wrote or dictated a memo, and still managed to turn the company around.

I used the term business leader. In every company, I have found there are both leaders and managers, whose respective goals and attitudes differ radically. Both types are vital to success, and each must have a clear vision of his or her role if any business is to grow and prosper. When starting a job, I found it helpful to trace the longer view of one’s goal and mission. For one of the great clogs preventing a company from running smoothly is not having a clear vision of what needs to be accomplished. Leaders need to send clear messages; managers need to hear and understand exactly what is required or expected of them. About which more later.

My long-standing quarrel with Murphy derives from my conviction that negative attitudes breed negative results. I can tolerate explanations of why something didn’t work if I truly believe one gave it a best shot. But I can’t help but dismiss people who come to me assuring me Plan A won’t work before they’ve even tried it, or who offer ready-made excuses. It’s important not to confuse being negative with making mistakes: honest mistakes often derive from calculated risk taking and tough choices. I’ve always believed we learn more from our mistakes than from our successes.

As we all endeavor to keep pace with the rapid changes in our lives, both personal and business, we need to be reminded to think clearly and calmly, even in crises. Crises are usually problems that have been allowed to fester, unsolved, for too long; one way to decrease, and even eliminate, them — thereby prolonging your life — is to identify and deal with problems sooner rather than later. It takes some training, but the exercise is well worth the effort.

CEOs or any department heads who use their positions effectively will find that their power increases as they exercise it wisely. So generally will their company’s profit. There is an intimate connection between power well used and profit, a kind of intrinsic partnership that in my experience is totally positive.

I have never worked for a boss that I did not like and respect. Also, I have always subscribed wholeheartedly to the thesis that the fastest way to get ahead in the corporate culture is to get your boss promoted. How can you do that, you might well ask? Read on.

I have resigned three times to accept more important positions, each time with greater pay and authority. But remember, this world is round. It is important when you leave one job for another to do so in as friendly and acceptable a fashion as possible. In my case, I count among my best friends the people in the companies I have left. When you are moving around in the corporate scene, my advice is never to slam a door so hard that you can’t open it again. My father taught me that.

You don’t have to be mean to be tough. You can make difficult decisions and still be compassionate. But to make things go right, you have to remember that the most important person in the world is not yourself, and that holds for everyone in the company, starting with the CEO. During my first days on the job as president of American Airlines, one of the young managers came up to me in the corridor of the New York headquarters, wished me well in my new job, and made a pyramid with both his hands.

“It must be an awesome feeling,” he said, “being at the top of this huge pyramid, with so many people working for you and counting on you.”

He was referring to Americans thirty-five thousand employees. Gently, I took his hand pyramid and turned it upside down.

“That’s the way I see the pyramid,” I said. “With me at the bottom, working for all the people above.”

A dozen years later, when the man retired, he wrote me a moving letter, thanking me for having helped him ascend the corporate ladder — actually he had helped himself— but specifically remembering the incident in the corridor when I had turned his hand pyramid upside down.

There are no easy, cut-and-dried formulas for business success, but dealing with people has to rank among the most important. Though she was always urging me to get good grades, my mother also, by her example, showed me that listening and paying attention to other people was essential.

My wife, Ellie, used to tell me, “Al, you’re smiling, you’re laughing, you’re telling Irish jokes. But all the time you’re testing the other person’s reactions. And then you figure out how he or she feels. You’re always evaluating people.” She read me better than anybody else.

The families of both my mother and father had come to the United States after the Irish potato famine in the 1840s. My mother’s family settled in Maine, my father’s in Boston. Their parents had nothing when they arrived, but by the time I came around my paternal grandfather owned several tenements in the Roxbury section of Boston, where I was born.

In 1923, when I was three, our family moved from Roxbury to Arlington, Massachusetts, across the Charles River. A large truck farm extended all the way from Churchill Avenue to Highland Avenue, directly opposite the high school. That farm was only a block from our house. Up the street was Menotomy Rocks Park, with playgrounds and the delightful Hill’s Pond.

When I was growing up, life in my hometown, as in the rest of the country, was rosy. With World War I behind us, America was a land not only of plenty but of seemingly unlimited opportunity. There were gains in production, a stock market boom, stable prices, low taxes, a balanced budget, a strong dollar. Automobiles were becoming commonplace; radio entertainment was expanding.

My father, who had an identical twin brother, always regretted that both he and his brother were denied college educations, especially because their father, my paternal grandfather, was quite well off. But my grandfather believed young men should work, not fill their minds with book learning. Still, Dad put himself through Lynn Classical High School, where in addition to absorbing a fair amount of book learning, he also studied building construction. Shortly after graduating, he founded the construction firm Casey & Darcy, and by the time we children came along, my parents had a sixteen-room duplex on Bartlett Avenue with a maid, a gardener, and a chauffeur.

In the mid-1920s, when I was five or six, my father was the victim of a terrible accident: a drunken Harvard student out celebrating his twenty-first birthday ran into Dad with his car. Seeing the car careening toward him, my father instinctively raised his left leg, but the student’s car caught his right leg between his running board and a parked car, pulverizing the thighbone. He had ninety-eight stitches in that leg, and a permanent silver plate was inserted to replace the crushed bone. The leg was horribly discolored from ankle to hip for the rest of his life, and every Friday afternoon for the next quarter-century — until he died — he went faithfully to the Lahey Clinic for treatment for ongoing circulation problems.

Dad was an avid sportsman and, despite his accident, continued to play ball with my older brother John and me, and take us to as many sporting events — especially baseball — as he could find time for. He was equally proud of his two daughters, Eva Marie and Norine, and like my mother constantly stressed to all four of us the need for and virtues of education. Until I was nine, ours was a close-knit, storybook family. It seemed the idyll would never end.

Then came the fall of 1929 and all the rules changed. The October stock market crash was followed by other equally unsettling events. The Smoot-Hawley legislation, which restricted international trade, and bills requiring increased taxes to “balance the budget” had as much to do with the chaos in the 1930s as anything else.

Arlington in the thirties was a microcosm of the country. Our Massachusetts veterans marched on Washington, we saw professional men selling apples on the corner, the gloom of empty manufacturing plants, the banks shut tight. We entered the “alphabet” era of FDR: the NRA (National Recovery Act), WPA (Works Progress Administration), PWA (Public Works Administration), CCC (Civilian Conservation Corps). There were new bridges, roads, public parks, post offices, and other make-work efforts; waste and benefit abounded.

The Depression sowed the seeds for Social Security and federal medical programs and contributed to widespread unionism. In Arlington, in 1932, 650 men sought jobs in a single day at the unemployment office. Many town officials rebated part of their salaries because people had defaulted on the taxes that were supposed to pay their salaries. In those days, there were no food stamps or organized welfare. Families helped their own. Churches did their best to aid their parishioners. But there simply was not enough money available. Many Arlington homes were sold for back taxes. As the shoe and textile plants moved south, many small home businesses sprang up to make ends meet.

But despite all the economic distress that struck America in the fall of 1929, the Casey family was still relatively untouched as we entered the 1930s. My fathers construction business, Casey & Darcy, was obviously affected, but it was still intact, and his excellent reputation as a builder seemed to promise that the Caseys would sail through the Depression, not unscathed perhaps, but without the kind of personal and financial disaster we saw all around us. For years my father had built schools and hospitals and public buildings throughout the Boston suburbs. Then in 1930, everything fell apart: almost overnight his company collapsed when his partner neglected to purchase public liability insurance for one of the company’s construction sites, Whidden Memorial Hospital in Everett. One Sunday, a boy who had trespassed on the work site fell and was gravely injured. Though I was too young to remember the precise nature of his injuries, the boy’s family sued and won. The suit wiped out the company: my father lost everything. I watched my father, a forty-year-old man who till then had been prosperous enough to have servants, now work part time as a postal clerk, sorting mail in the Arlington post office. His two four-hour shifts per week paid him $1.25 an hour.

Though only eleven at the time, I was old enough to see and understand what was happening to my father, who was changing before my eyes. I would come home from school to find this formerly energetic, optimistic man sitting on the parlor sofa, smoking a cheap cigar and reading Argosy magazine. He had to ask my mother for spending money. My father was broke, but even worse, he was a broken man. His self-confidence destroyed, he found it increasingly difficult even to look for a job. Eventually he found one as a construction inspector for the state, but he was never again the same bouncy, happy-go-lucky man I had known.

After my father lost his business, my mother, a strong woman, had to become even stronger. She enrolled in the educational administration department at Boston University. Even when we literally did not have a dime and the house was about to be sold for back taxes, she did not break. Realizing my father could no longer support us and provide for our education, she announced the opening of a new school in the fall of 1933, the Bartlett Elementary School, named after the street we lived on in Arlington. She had no school facility, but she had an idea. If she could make it work, she’d find the quarters to house the idea. The “idea” was simple but ingenious. In an era when millions of people were dirt poor, the notion of opening a private, tuition-paying school doubtless seemed ridiculous. But Mother also understood we were living in a very special neighborhood, a stone’s throw from Harvard and several other important universities. She notified the faculty and posted notices on the bulletin boards of MIT, Harvard, and Radcliffe, announcing the opening of the Bartlett School, which, she stated, was a school “for gifted children only” Almost immediately several professors enrolled their children, since, of course, they were convinced their children were gifted. My mother had also learned that to start first grade, a child needed to be five and a half years old by September 1, but to enter the second grade a child simply had to be able to read. So in the school’s early years, Mother had more than her share of very young, very gifted second graders! But her idea worked: in the fall of 1933, twenty children were enrolled in Bartlett, including my sister Norine. As for the school’s quarters, the parlor of our house was ample for the first year’s needs.

Mother worked very hard at her business, the school, but she never neglected her children. As we were growing up, she kept us busy helping out at her school and at home with the chores. Over dinner, she would tell each of us her objectives for us. To me she said, “You’d make me so proud if you got good grades.” I never earned terrific grades. I always passed, but both my sisters and my brother were straight-A students, and Mother thought there was no reason I shouldn’t be, too.

“But, Mom,” I’d respond, “I think it’s just as important to be president of the student council.”

“That’s important, too,” she would say, “but good grades mean that you have applied yourself, that you’ve worked hard.”

Getting along with people was just as important as good grades, I insisted. “Why do you think I go down and cut Miss Bennett’s grass for thirty-five cents?” I argued one night. Miss Bennett was my Latin teacher. “I probably wouldn’t pass if I didn’t cut her grass.”

“Al,” Mother said, clearly distressed, “what an awful thing to say You’re challenging that woman’s integrity.”

Whatever his failings, my father, too, insisted we all get a good education. And indeed we did: John went to MIT and did brilliantly; I went to Harvard, Norine to Wellesley, and Eva Marie to Regis. John, though only seventeen months my elder, was mistakenly enrolled in school a year early, so was always two, and sometimes three, years ahead of me.

Thanks to my mother, whose determination to make things right was unswerving, we were somehow able not only to survive but to prosper. (Prosper is perhaps the wrong term, but thanks to Mother’s iron will and positive spirit, we never felt deprived or depressed.) Her school grew rapidly, as more and more parents discovered their children were gifted. Each year we gave up one more room of our house to make place for another classroom. Eventually the school took over one side of the house; even the former coal bin was overrun and turned into a music room. When the school occupied all seven rooms of that side of our three-story duplex, we moved to the other side. Before long, the invasive school usurped a number of rooms there as well. Later, the ever-growing school was relocated twice into vacated public school buildings in the neighboring town of Winchester.

Despite the fact that it was gradually taken over as a school, my family home in Arlington has remained a fixture in my life for most of the century. I lived there for twenty years, and since leaving home I have returned more than two hundred times to visit my family, to tour the neighborhood, to reminisce. My sister Norine, who took over the Bartlett School from my mother, still lives there today.

When I was in junior high school, my best friend was a neighborhood boy named Don Currier. A good student, Don was shorter than I and not as tough. One day he came up to me and said, “Al, Quentin Stevens has been transferred to our school and he’s a known bully. That’s why they’re kicking him out of his other school. We want to set him straight from the first day. We got together and decided we needed somebody to knock his block off as soon as he gets here. We all voted for you.”

“Why me?” I said. “Quentin Stevens is one tough turkey. I know him from Sunday school. Besides, you know I’m not the best fighter in school.” I wore glasses that were always getting broken, and it was not from dropping them by mistake.

“But you’re the tallest,’ Don said. And I was. “Al, the first time Quentin comes into the playground, just tackle him and that will be it.”

Quentin’s going to kill me, I thought. He’s way tougher than I am. But now that my school friends had set me up, I had no choice. Or did I?

That week at Sunday school I took Quentin aside and said, somewhat nervously: “Quentin, I hear you are coming to our school. Everyone there is saying you’re a bully. Everyone expects you to be a bully. You should prove that you’re not, and I’ll help you. If you want, you and I will be friends.”

On my way home I wondered if Quentin really believed me. I couldn’t sleep that night, worrying about what might happen to me the next day. When I did fall asleep, Quentin would suddenly appear in my dream, breathing fire, and I’d wake up in a sweat.

Before school the next morning, Quentin came over to my house. I saw who it was through the window and didn’t want to answer the door. But I knew I had to.

“Al,” Quentin said as I opened the door, “I’ve been thinking about what you said yesterday.” Then he suddenly cocked his fists in front of his chest, as if he were going to start a fight.

I recoiled, and Quentin, still the bully, gave a broad smile.

“Just kidding,” he said. And we went down to the playground together, already buddies. I never did have to fight him. But I had learned something: if you sense you’re going to lose, you must recognize the need to compromise or neutralize your adversary’s advantage. Fact was, if I’d taken on Quentin as my schoolmates wanted, he’d have knocked my block off.

*    *    *

When I was seventeen, I spent the summer working at the A&P in nearby Scituate. Since it was several miles from home, and I had to be at work early, I found a room in a nearby boardinghouse, proud to be on my own for the first time.

One day my mother got a call from her brother, my uncle Fred, who asked her if she knew where her son was living.

“In a boardinghouse,” she said. “And he’s paying his own rent,” she added proudly.

“Try again,” said my uncle.

She called me, and I was perplexed by her concern.

“I don’t know what the problem could be,” I said. “The room’s very reasonable. My landlady, Bonnie, is very nice. Of course, I do get home pretty late, but she leaves the door open for me, and I’ve never seen anyone going in or out.”

“Is that all?” Mother asked sternly.

“Well…” I paused. “She did say if there was a tie on the banister I shouldn’t come upstairs, but should sleep on the couch.” Whenever the tie was on the banister, a dollar was deducted from my weekly seven dollars’ rent, which as far as I was concerned made sleeping on the couch definitely worthwhile.

The boardinghouse, it turned out, was a brothel. Poor mother, I thought she’d never recover: her own son living in a whorehouse!

When I was not at the A&P, I worked nights at the newly built local movie theater. I first helped install the seats, and when it opened I became an usher — seven nights a week. Every Sunday, I worked on a ‘“Sunday-tripper” fishing boat, preparing bait on the trip out and cleaning the decks on the trip in. I also sold Singer sewing machine oil door-to-door for fifteen cents a bottle. And Band-Aids: I bought them wholesale and peddled them, also from door to door. The markup was 100 percent. But my best deal was shoestrings: I paid two cents a pair and sold them for ten cents! Early on, I began to get a clear fix on how middlemen prospered. I didn’t know it then, but I was also beginning to learn the basics of Casey’s Law: if you want things to go right, you can’t sit back and wait for them to happen. You have to steer things in the right direction.

Growing up in the shadow of Harvard, I dreamed of attending that venerable institution. And of course my mother constantly reminded us children how fortunate we were to live in the same neighborhood as Harvard and MIT and only a few miles from Wellesley College. At the start of my senior year, I filled out all the application forms and wrote an eloquent letter giving all the reasons why I should attend Harvard. To my dismay, I was turned down. I could have settled for another school, but my heart was set on Harvard. I decided the only thing to do was to spend another year studying hard and getting those better grades my mother kept talking about. I had saved up enough money to pay for part of the tuition at a nearby prep school, New Preparatory School, the following year, where indeed I did work very hard and got good grades. I passed my college boards, and this time Harvard accepted me. To be fair, Harvard also accepted eighteen of my New Preparatory classmates. To be fairer, only four of us graduated. That prep school, filled mainly with rich kids, many of whom had been expelled from the name preparatory schools of New England, was adept at getting the kids accepted. But though many were called, few were chosen. From that experience I learned not to take no for an answer if there was the slightest possibility of turning it into a yes. Most of us have to learn that lesson several times before it sinks in.
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WORKING THROUGH HARVARD

DURING MY UNDERGRADUATE YEARS at Harvard I took a number of jobs. Our family still had little money, and it was a real strain to put my older brother John through MIT at the same time. My tuition was four hundred dollars a semester, and I had to earn most of it. I ran errands, delivered papers and, on holidays, the mail. The pay was fifty cents an hour, and I was delighted to get it.

One of my jobs was, once a month, to drive Harvard’s Oldest Living Graduate, who was in his nineties and lived in Cambridge, to the cemetery. He wanted to visit with and talk to his classmates each month, he said, and they were all at the cemetery. My fee? Fifty cents an hour. One day the elderly but oh-so-sprightly gentleman told me he wanted me to drive him to Woods Hole in his car. He was on his way to spend the summer on Martha’s Vineyard. His offer: five dollars.

“Mind now, I’m paying you only for the drive down, young man,” he warned. “I’m taking the car on the ferry to the Vineyard.”

“Excuse me,” I said, “but how will I get home?”

“That’s your problem, Albert, not mine,” said Harvard’s Oldest Living Graduate. And indeed it was. In any case, I hitchhiked home without much difficulty, five dollars richer.

Speaking of summer holidays, each June, President James Bryant Conant of Harvard would move north to New Hampshire for two or three months. Mrs. Ryan, who worked in the Harvard employment office, was entrusted with the job of packing him, and enlisted me to help. From the looks of the van, you’d have thought he was moving out, never to return. Among other things, he always took his skis with him; none of us could ever figure out why, since he dutifully moved back to Cambridge in the fall, together with his skis.

Another college job was driving school children from the town of Winchester to Browne & Nichols, a prep school just up the Charles River from Harvard. Every morning between seven thirty and eight I would pick up my charges and deliver them to school. Then I would return at the end of the day and drive the children home again, for which I was paid the princely sum of six dollars a week per child.

One job I particularly enjoyed, for all sorts of reasons, was supervising the ushers at the Harvard football games. I had been an usher there myself as a high school kid. There were 120 ushers at every football game, whose “pay” was to see the game for free. During my freshman, sophomore, and junior years at Harvard, in 1939, 1940, and 1941 respectively, I worked my way up through the usher hierarchy, and by the time I left to go into the service I was top dog, earning seventy-five dollars per game, a truly meaningful sum. But I did work for my pay. At ten o’clock every Saturday morning when there was a home game, I met the 120 ushers and laid out the assignment for each. It was the first time I had been in charge of a number of people, and though I won’t say it was overly challenging, the job did require planning and supervision. There were twenty sections in the stadium, and each section had a head usher (whose pay was five dollars a game) to whom five to six ushers reported (whose pay was a free ticket).

Closing up three libraries every night was another job; they were all in Harvard Square on the second or third floors above stores. I had to go up with my set of keys starting at nine thirty, turn out the lights, and lock the doors. In truth, that Einsteinian task had been given to the Harvard quarterback George Heiden, as part of his “merit” scholarship no doubt, and he had conned me into doing it for him for the usual fifty cents. I also used to spell three different custodians in the Harvard houses, or dormitories, for half an hour each evening so they could go and eat their supper. All these odd jobs paid relatively little, but to paraphrase Everett Dirksen: a couple of dollars here, a couple of dollars there, and pretty soon you’re talking about real money.

Most afternoons I drove the little red motorboat called the Harvard Pup, assigned to the 150-pound crew coach Harvey Love. While the snow and sleet were swirling about, I was bundled up in a nice warm coat, in contrast to those poor preppies trying to make crew, all sitting there in their shorts, freezing to death in their shells on the Charles River.

It may sound from all the above that I had little time for classes, which was not true. I was a serious, though not brilliant, student. But I learned as much from my various working experiences as I did from my formal education. All those jobs proved to be excellent discipline for me, reinforcing another of my mother’s basic precepts: time is very precious.

In 1940, when I was a sophomore, my brother, John, had already graduated from MIT and was working for the propeller division of Curtiss-Wright in Buffalo, New York. The aerospace companies, which were gearing up in a hurry because of the threat of war, had hired John and a number of his MIT classmates straight out of college. John and his friends had rented a house in Buffalo, which they called Locksley Hall. They had all chipped in and leased a Piper Cub, which they took regular turns flying every morning (yes, they all did have their pilot licenses).

One weekend I went up to Buffalo to visit John with a classmate whose father was driving him home from school. I spent the night at my brother’s house, and was planning to hitchhike back to Harvard the next day, since I didn’t have the money to take a train or bus. John’s day to fly wasn’t until the following Tuesday, but because of my weekend visit he wanted to take me up.

“Have you ever been up in an airplane?” John asked me.

“No,” I replied.

“Would you like to?”

“I’d love to!”

We asked the fellow whose turn it was to fly that morning, a Saturday, if he would swap with John. “I’d like to take my brother up for a little spin,” John explained. “Would you mind swapping?” The fellow said that unfortunately he had to be away on Tuesday, so he couldn’t use John’s day. “But I’ll take your brother up,” he offered magnanimously I took John aside and asked him whether this guy really knew how to fly.

“He’s the best pilot of the group,” John said. “I’d rather have you go up with him than with me.”

So I climbed into the Piper Cub, which was about as big as a coffee table, just a wing and an engine, and we took off. It was a two-seater: one person sat behind the other. The cockpit windows were Plexiglas, and two of them were broken. The “runway” was a bumpy field where the plane was kept, and the takeoff was so rough I was afraid I’d jar my teeth loose before we were airborne. After we’d been flying for a while my brother’s friend yelled above the roar of the motor, “So, what do you think of that, Al?” he said.

“I think it’s great!”

Then John’s friend turned the plane’s nose down and let it rip for a couple thousand feet before pulling up. “How do you like that?” he yelled, grinning from ear to ear.

“Terrific!” I yelled back. “If this is the way it goes, then this is the way it goes.”

So he brought the nose up to make a power stall, which strains the engine and causes it to quit, at which point the pilot dips the nose down and the propeller catches, like push-starting a car.

“So what did you think of that, Al?” he said.

“Wonderful,” I yelled, but I wasn’t feeling quite as chipper as I sounded.

He did another stall, but this time, heading down, the propeller failed to catch. As the ground grew alarmingly closer, with still no motor, John’s friend eased the nose upward and flew the plane like a glider. Meanwhile, down below, my brother was watching with growing dread. “What am I ever going to tell Mother?” he later told me he was asking himself. “Hey, Mom, I sent Al up in our plane with a friend of mine, and he died in a terrible crash.”

The fellow flying the plane (I hardly dare call him a pilot) said, “Hold on tight. We’ve got to go down now. We have no choice.” And down we started. There wasn’t a chance in hell we were going to make it back to the airstrip, I figured, and wondered if the reckless “pilot” had any idea where he was heading. As the earth came closer, I worked up my courage to ask.

“See that farm down there?” He pointed. “I’m going to try to land in the farmyard.”

I was sure we were going to hit the high tension wires I saw rushing toward us, but somehow we managed to sneak under them. Barely. By maybe two inches, in my impartial judgment. The propeller never did start, so we made what was called a dead stick landing in the farm field. We bumped like hell, but nothing was broken, and the plane finally jiggled to a stop. I climbed out, my knees like jelly.

“Nice landing,” I said. John, who had followed our flight with fear and trembling, rushed up, hugging me and kissing me as if I had come back from the dead — which, in a sense, I guess I had.

Flying with John’s friend taught me to calculate a little more carefully the pros and cons of a situation before plunging into it. I was damn lucky not to have been killed. I was still pretty much a kid, and when you’re young life seems to stretch endlessly before you, and risks are part of the game. But there’s a fine line between being foolhardy and taking risks. Part of wisdom, I later realized, was learning how to differentiate between the two. My young “pilot” had been foolhardy — which means, literally, “crazy bold” — taking unnecessary risks without weighing the possible consequences.

I learned a lot about Murphy’s Law in the summer of 1941, when I worked as a dining room and cocktail waiter at the Cliff Hotel in North Scituate, Massachusetts, a beach community twenty miles south of Boston. The hotel was owned by the Summers, a Boston family.

The maître d’, a Monsieur Roger Boderat, was a former professional boxer from Belgium. He hired ten college boys to help prepare the hotel for the summer (it was closed during the winter months). The work was backbreaking: we had to mix and pour cement; lug furniture out of storage, scrape it down, and paint it; and restore the warped and broken flooring.

Getting the place in shape took three weeks, and we worked twelve hours a day, seven days a week. In return, we were given room and board, plus twenty dollars a month throughout the three summer months, waiting on tables.

Nearly every evening during this preparation and cleanup period there were class reunion dinners. The hotel charged the class chairmen fifty dollars each night for our services as waiters. And in return for our noble efforts, we each received a dollar in pay, while Roger Boderat kept forty dollars for himself. Anyone who complained about the seeming disparity was fired on the spot.

Most of us toed the line because we needed the work, and we had been looking forward to a summer of pretty girls and big tips. The kitchen crew were all African Americans and kept similarly in line by Cookie, a large man who had a habit of waving an oversized chef’s knife for emphasis whenever he issued an order.

As much as we detested Monsieur Boderat, there were times, most of them unscheduled and unplanned, when we got our revenge. The first occurred while we were serving one of those class dinners, and it involved Jim Logan, a brute of a young Irishman from Dorchester who had a football scholarship to Wake Forest. There was a set pattern for traffic between the dining room and the kitchen: you always stayed to your right in order to avoid traffic coming in the opposite direction. One night Big Jim, carrying a tray loaded with ten large glass water pitchers, thought he would take a short cut. He started through the Out door only to meet a fellow waiter barreling in. The class speakers were in full sway when the ten water pitchers soared — several feet it seemed — into the air and landed on the floor, most of them — nine out of ten, as I recall — shattering into thousands of shards. The thunderous noise brought the festivities to an immediate standstill and Boderat running, his look implying that the guillotine would have been too kind and swift a fate for Logan. But taking a closer look at Logans size and stature, the wise maitre d’ decided that, indeed, discretion was the better part of valor. So he limited his penalty to a heavily accented, but nonetheless scathing, verbal assault.

While none of us was ever slated to make the Waiters Hall of Fame, some of our little group were downright awful, which had the virtue of driving Boderat up the wall. On Sunday we always had three entrees: steak, chicken, and lobster. One Sunday a neophyte waiter, whose name I have long forgotten but whose misfortunes I remember well, took orders from his four tables, then went to the kitchen and ordered all the steaks for his tables and dutifully brought them in: one for this table, two for that, and so on. Back to the kitchen he went and ordered all the chicken requests, which in due course he proudly if not promptly delivered to the various tables; then a third trip to the kitchen to order the lobsters. Needless to say, the steak eaters were long finished by the time the chickens arrived, and by the time the lobsters put in their belated appearance, dessert and coffee had already been served to the steak and chicken folk. Monsieur Boderat decided, without too much introspection, that the guilty waiter was clearly not cut out for this high calling and dismissed him forthwith, with a flurry of French that, had the poor lad understood, would doubtless have destroyed his self-esteem forever.

At one point I was put in charge of the outdoor buffet, which was alongside and a floor below the dining room and main kitchen. We were tempted to pass trays of food and dirty dishes up to a colleague in a dining room window, but it was outlawed for all the obvious reasons. The long, legal route led out the back door of the kitchen and around a walkway to a patio, a long trek. On my tour of duty, lunch had taken longer than usual, and we decided to hurry with the cleanup. I leaned out a dining room window and told a buddy, Paul Lamothe, to pass me up the dirty dishes. All went well until he passed up a particularly heavy load —just as Monsieur Boderat appeared on the patio.

Paul had trouble lifting the load. I leaned out as far as I could to grasp the tray.

Monsieur Boderat glanced up and shouted, in his heavy Belgian accent: “Paul, vat in de world are you doing?”

Paul, stung by the words of the master, let go of the tray, which I was still grasping precariously. Try as I might, however, I couldn’t lift the damn thing or even keep the tray on an even keel. Dishes and glasses started to slide off, slowly at first, then faster and faster, plunging like misguided missiles onto the concrete patio below for what seemed an eternity. Unfortunately, none struck the apoplectic maitre d’.

If I had not been the favorite waiter of the hotel owner, I too would have been discharged on the spot. As for Paul, I saved his skin by declaring magnanimously to Monsieur Boderat that it was all my fault. “I cannot tell a lie,” I protested, wondering if in Belgium they had ever heard of young George’s legendary cherry tree. “It was all my doing.”

Boderat fumed but, aware of my relationship with the Summers, restrained himself— no easy task.

During that memorable summer at the Cliff Hotel, I learned from Roger Boderat that while it’s fine to push people hard, never push them beyond the breaking point.

In fact, Roger had not only been pushing us unmercifully but also constantly taking advantage of us. One night we waiters gathered in solemn assembly and took a blood oath to get even. Our only problem was we hadn’t the faintest notion how. But we bided our time, waiting for the occasion to present itself. Labor Day weekend, with time running out, we finally decided to act. On Monday evening Mr. Summers hosted a particularly lavish dinner in the cocktail lounge, called the Bamboo Room by the customers and the Bad Booze Room by the help. There were about eighty people at the dinner, and the waiters brought drinks to their tables from a service bar set up in a hallway behind the cocktail lounge bar. As usual, Roger was shouting at us in the service bar hallway while bowing obsequiously to the owner’s family whenever he was in the lounge. We had put up with him for three months plus, and this was our last chance. When monsieur made the tactical mistake of resurfacing in the hallway where all ten of us had gathered, without preparation or even a signal we picked him up and carried him over our heads back into the lounge, where we deposited him smack on top of the crépes suzettes he had been lovingly preparing at the owner’s table.

Vast confusion followed, and the police were called in, though finally no charges were pressed. When we reconnoitered at the end of the evening, knowing we would be leaving the next morning, we all agreed to sign a pact: the next time any of us saw Roger we would kill him, no matter where, no matter when.

Years later, when I went to work at the Times Mirror Company in Los Angeles, Harry Volk, then chairman of Union Bank, invited me to lunch at his club in the Union Bank Building on the corner of Wilshire Boulevard and Western Avenue. Wouldn’t you know, barely was I seated when I looked up to see, approaching our table from the dark recesses of the room, none other than Roger Boderat, who was then the maitre d’ of the club. It had been more than two decades since we had seen each other, but there was instant recognition on both our parts. Alas, because of my earlier pledge, I was forced to kill him on the spot, thus spoiling my inaugural lunch at Times Mirror.

At Harvard a lot of us were speeding up our studies to finish college before we were drafted. I was the class of 1943. War was declared early in December 1941, so during the second semester, in the spring of 1942, I began doubling up on my classes, then attended the summer session so I could finish college early. Like many of my classmates, by the fall of 1942 I had compiled enough course credits to graduate — in my case, with a degree in economics. But I had to take an oral exam, because the school was waiving certain other requirements for my degree. Three Harvard economics professors questioned me in a building across the street from Adams House.

One of the professors was John Dunlop, who would later serve on several labor commissions under President Kennedy. Professor Dunlop had taught me in a course called Ec. 81, Labor Economics, which was the history of the labor movement. To complete that course, I had written a paper about the Reuther Plan, named after United Auto Workers president Walter Reuther, who proposed converting existing automobile factories to war production. To write my paper, I had actually contacted Mr. Reuther personally, and this evidently had made a big impression on Professor Dunlop. He liked students who showed unusual initiative.

During the oral exam, I could tell from Professor Dunlop’s expression I was not doing very well. In fact, I was doing damn poorly. I was nervous, and Professor Dunlop was clearly disappointed that I was not demonstrating the kind of ability I had shown in Ec. 81.

Suddenly, the building next to Adams House caught fire. Two of the professors headed for the window. We could hear the fire engines clanging up the street and people shouting. Professor Dunlop did not move. Instead, he reached over, put his hand on my shoulder, and said, “Stay here, Al. I admire what you’re planning to do, volunteering for the armed services, but I’d like to know what particular aspects of economics we could question you on so that you could give a better account of yourself than you’ve given so far today.” So we discussed parts of the labor economics course he had taught me, including the Reuther Plan. When the other two professors returned from their rubbernecking interlude, Professor Dunlop said to them, “I’d like to take over the questions for a bit, because I had Al in one of my classes.”

I answered the rest of the questions brilliantly.

Long after I had forgotten what I learned in Professor Dun-lop’s course, I remembered the relationship we had established. Professor Dunlop knew that, in his course at least, I had been a conscientious student. He also knew that conscientious students can get nervous in an oral exam and not give a good account of themselves. He and I had a relationship. Without that relationship, I might have failed my exam, perhaps graduated a year later, and probably not have been able to return to Harvard after the war to attend business school. When I was CEO of Times Mirror and, later, American Airlines, I still remembered Professor Dunlop, who clearly did not believe in Murphy’s Law. In my oral exam, something was going wrong; he decided to make it go right.

Before I headed off to the service, I went over to the Harvard Business School admissions office one September afternoon in 1942 and filled out the application forms. I was accepted on the spot, since, because of the war, there were relatively few applicants. When I went back the next day and explained that I wanted a deferment until after the war, the dean of admissions rose to his feet and flung out his arms. I figured he had studied in France and was going to give me a Gallic embrace. “It’s a noble thing you’re doing,” he told me. “You can rest assured: there’ll always be a place for you at Harvard Business School.”

Boy, that was easy, I thought as I left the dean’s office. I went home and told my mother, with considerable pride, that I had been accepted to Harvard Business School as soon as the war was over.

“Did you get that in writing, Albert?” she asked. “I mean about the deferment?”

“Of course not, Mother. The dean gave me his word.”

As usual, Mother was right.



3


THE ARMY, POKER, AND SOUTHERN PACIFIC

BACK IN THE DAYS when I was making seventeen dollars a week at the A&P in Scituate, I used to risk part of my paycheck — not to mention the potential wrath of my mother — by leaving horse bets in the milk bottles. If I go to the track today, I always use the same system I taught myself as an adolescent. I do not bet on the horse that at post time has the biggest improvement in odds from the newspaper morning line. I bet on the second, third, and fourth horses that have the greatest change from the morning line, and I bet them across the board. It cost me eighteen dollars, six dollars for each horse. Nine times out of ten I won, but not a lot because seldom did all three horses pay.

In the army, which I entered shortly after passing Professor Dunlop’s exam, I played cards religiously every noon, usually for nickels and dimes but sometimes for more.

Actually, just getting into the service was a struggle. I first tried to enlist in the navy in Boston and was turned down because I couldn’t pass the eye exam. I suffered from progressive myopia, a condition that defies the laws of nature: your eyes get worse until you’re twenty-nine, then they get better (today I have better eyesight than ever). So I went down to New York and tried again there. Someone had told me that they were so lenient there that if your body was warm, you were in. Not so. Again I was turned down because of my eyesight. So I went up to Buffalo and made a third effort. Three strikes, Casey; so now what do you do? I finally traveled to Westfield, Massachusetts, near Springfield, where I was able to enlist in the army reserve — whose physical requirements were much less rigorous than the regular army’s — and sign up for a six-month radio repair course. Every weekend I would take the train from Westfield back to Boston to see Ellie, the young woman I had fallen in love with.

Her full name was Eleanor Welch, and she was the sister of a close friend of mine at Harvard, Andy Welch Jr. Andy was a year behind me — class of 1944 — but we had taken a number of classes together and enjoyed each other’s company. Andy was a handsome devil and very charismatic. He was the class secretary, the highest position to which a student could be elected by his classmates. But it was not Andy who introduced me to Ellie. One day at the end of my junior year, a friend of mine, Larry Corbett, asked me if I would go on a blind date with a girl he knew.

“Sure,” I said. “But I don’t have a car.”

“That’s okay. I’ll pick you up and bring your date with me,” he said.

My parents were curious to meet the young lady. I was embarrassed, explained this was a blind date, that I hadn’t met the girl myself. But when Larry arrived, he and my date walked up to the house where my parents and I were sitting on the front porch.

“Hi, Al,” Larry said, “I’d like you to meet Eleanor Welch. And Ellie, this is Mr. and Mrs. Casey.”

My mother looked at the girl — who, I confess, had taken my breath away — and said, “You aren’t Andy Welch’s daughter, are you?”

“Yes, I am,” replied Ellie (no one addressed her as Eleanor). “Why do you ask?”

“Because I knew your father many years ago. In fact, we once went out on a date together!”

I didn’t see Ellie again until the fall, because I was working — that was my infamous summer at the Cliff Hotel — but as soon as I got back to Harvard I called and asked her out again. I was totally smitten with Ellie, who was only seventeen, and I never went seriously with anyone else. At a mature twenty-one, I was already sure I was going to marry her.

The army reserve was lenient about overnight weekend passes, so virtually every Saturday afternoon I’d take the train from Westfield to Springfield and on to Boston, where Ellie would pick me up in her Dad’s 1939 Nash. I’d usually arrive in Boston about eleven, and we would drive over to the Somerset Hotel on Copley Square to have a drink before the bar closed down at quarter to twelve. Going back on Sunday, there were no trains to West-field, so I had to hitchhike from Brookline along Route 9. Ellie and I were very much in love, and although we wanted to get married we decided it would be best to wait until the war was over. Besides, Ellie was still very young, her parents reminded us.

Fortunately for me, Ellie’s father was a Harvard man, class of 1913, and lived and breathed “for fair Harvard.” He commended me on the wisdom of my choice of college, adding, “Frankly, Al, I couldn’t imagine my daughter marrying anyone who wasn’t a Harvard man.”

Upon completion of the radio-repair course, my fellow reservists and I were inducted into the real army at Fort Devens, Massachusetts, and assigned to the Signal Corps at Fort Monmouth, New Jersey. After basic training, we were given a battery of aptitude tests, as a result of which I was assigned to a cryptography class, where I learned how to encode and decode army messages, as opposed to cryptoanalysis, which is the breaking of enemy codes. I liked cryptography, learned it quickly, and soon became an instructor. The army was faced with constantly changing needs, however, and suddenly I was shipped off to a ninety-day immersion course in Italian, then transferred to Pine Camp, near the Canadian border, to guard Italian and German prisoners.

While at Pine Camp, New York, fellow PFCs (Privates First Class) Timmy Murphy, Bob Maguire, and I took off without formal, or even informal, permission, to go home for Mother’s Day. Surely, we figured, the army wouldn’t mind our going to visit our mothers! The real reason for the trip in my case was to see Ellie, whom I hadn’t seen for weeks. During the Mother’s Day weekend, everything on the trip to Boston went off without a hitch, but coming back to Watertown — the closest stop to Pine Camp — we were picked up on the train by the military police who, discovering we were AWOL, carted us unceremoniously back to camp, where they turned us over to the Pine Camp MPs, who locked us up for the night. Languishing in our cell, I asked Timmy and Bob what they thought would happen to us.

“I heard the MPs talking about a court-martial,” Timmy said.

“We were only gone two days,” Maguire lamented. “Is that so serious?”

Well, it turned out the army, which didn’t seem to have an Irish sense of humor, thought our peccadillo was a grave matter, and though we were not court-martialed, our cases were turned over to the company commander.

I was terrified. The proceedings were brief and abrupt. We tried to make a case for Mother’s Day being extenuating, but the army would have none of it. The company commander who presided was probably against apple pie, too. Be that as it may, Murphy (no relation to the Murphy of the Law) and Maguire were transferred forthwith from Pine Camp and dispatched to the Philippines.

“As for you, Casey, you’re confined to quarters until further notice,” the company commander said. That sounded ominous, I thought: where could they be sending me that would be worse than the Philippines?

As it happened, at that time I was playing second base for the camp baseball team, and the team was doing well. Since there was only one month left in the season, the brass had apparently decided not to break up a winning team. In any case, by the time the baseball season ended, the army’s personnel requirements had changed again, the memory of my crime and punishment had apparently been more than offset by my batting average, and thanks to my college education and a reasonably high IQ test score, I was assigned to officer candidate school at Fort Monmouth, New Jersey. It struck me as rather odd, even unfair, that I was being rewarded for a military misdemeanor, but who was I to question higher authority?

From my milk-bottle horse-betting days, you may have gathered there is a bit of gambler’s instinct buried — none too deeply — in my genetic makeup. Poker, too, held an unmistakable fascination for me, and throughout college, as well as during my army stint, I played often and long. Not for any great stakes, but there’s an undeniable aspect of poker that carries over into your business life: you learn to read people, you exercise your mind by keeping close track of the cards, you learn when to hold ‘em and when to fold ‘em (good money after good versus good money after bad), and you learn the power of bluff* and when to call a bluff.

In my post-army years, when I was out in the so-called big world, I continued playing poker with friends and business associates. There were many memorable poker nights (remember: socializing with business friends has — in addition to the pleasure of the event itself— a bonding effect that often carries over into your work). I remember two such poker nights especially.

Perhaps the one I remember most vividly is the night I won $11,000. That night I had two queens and two sixes in the first four cards. Opposite me was a very nice fellow from Dallas, a wealthy oil mogul named Paul Meek. We were playing seven-card stud. In this game you get two cards down, four up, and the final card down. I assumed he had two clubs down, since the first up two cards were clubs, and he bet heavily after receiving his fifth card, also a club.

While we continued betting and raising each other’s hands, our tall stacks of red, white, and blue chips were quickly depleted as the pot grew to cover most of the table’s center. However, in this game each player also had IOU chits he could pull out, sign, and throw into the pot as he wished.

Paul’s sixth card was also a club, so it was obvious, the way he was betting, that he already had a club flush. At that point those who had not already dropped out folded. However, their interest in the pot remained keen. Then Paul made a terrible mistake; he made a bet of only two hundred dollars as we drew the last down card. One of his clubs showing was a six, which meant that my only possibilities were the last six or one of the two remaining queens. I threw in two hundred dollars to call him and he said, “I guess I should have bet two thousand dollars.” If he had, I would have dropped out; but for two hundred dollars, I had little to lose and a lot to gain.

*See chapter 5, the episode I could have called “Bluffing Nelson Rockefeller.”

“You damn well should have, but you didn’t,” I said. On the last card down, I had caught the case six (the last six), which gave me a full house, sixes and queens. And I knew what he had.

“I’ll bet another five thousand dollars,” I said.

“Good God, Al, you know what I’ve got, but I don’t know what you have,” Paul said. “Why don’t you bet the way I did?”

“Because you made a mistake,” I replied.

He sat there, everyone watching and wondering what Paul was going to do. “I couldn’t go home with this crowd if you faked me out,” he finally said. So he put up $5,000 to call. And I won $11,000.
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